
 
EXECUTIVE SERVICES  

TONBRIDGE & MALLING 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Interim Chief Executive 
Adrian Stanfield LL.B (Hons)  
 

Gibson Building 
Gibson Drive 
Kings Hill, West Malling 
Kent ME19 4LZ 
West Malling (01732) 844522 

 

 
NB - This agenda contains proposals, 
recommendations and options. These do 
not represent Council policy or decisions 
until they have received proper 
consideration through the full decision 
making process. 

Contact: Democratic Services 
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk 

 
20 March 2024 

  

 
To: MEMBERS OF THE AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 (Copies to all Members of the Council) 

 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Area 1 Planning Committee to be held 
in Council Chamber,  Gibson Drive, Kings Hill on Thursday, 28th March, 2024 
commencing at 7.30 pm.  
 
Members of the Committee are required to attend in person. Other Members may attend 
in person or participate online via MS Teams. 
 
Information on how to observe the meeting will be published on the Council’s website. 
Deposited plans can be viewed online by using Public Access. 
 

Yours faithfully 
 
ADRIAN STANFIELD 
 
Interim Chief Executive 

  

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Guidance for the Conduct of Meetings  
 
 

5 - 8 

Public Document Pack

http://www.tmbc.gov.uk/view-planning-applications


 PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 

2. Apologies for Absence  
 

 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 

 

 Members are reminded of their obligation under the Council’s Code of Conduct to 
disclose any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other Significant Interests in any 
matter(s) to be considered or being considered at the meeting. These are 
explained in the Code of Conduct on the Council’s website at Code of conduct for 
members – Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council (tmbc.gov.uk). 
 
Members in any doubt about such declarations are advised to contact Legal or 
Democratic Services in advance of the meeting. 
 

4. Minutes  
 

9 - 10 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of Area 1 Planning 
Committee held on 19 October 2023. 
 

5. Glossary and Supplementary Matters  
 

11 - 18 

 Glossary of abbreviations used in reports to the Area Planning Committee 
(attached for information)  
 
Any supplementary matters will be circulated via report in advance of the meeting 
and published to the website. 
 

 Decisions to be taken by the Committee 
 

6. TM/22/02694/FL - Formerly River Centre Car Park, Medway 
Wharf Road, Tonbridge  

 

19 - 94 

 Erection of a 9 storey building comprising of 118 residential units, together with 
associated car and cycle parking, landscaping and associated works 
 

 Matters for Information 
 

7. Planning Appeals, Public Inquiries and Hearings  
 

95 - 100 

 To receive and note any update in respect of planning appeals, public inquiries 
and hearings held since the last meeting of the Planning Committee. 
 

8. Urgent Items  
 

 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/council/code-conduct-members
https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/council/code-conduct-members


 Matters for consideration in Private 
 

9. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

101 - 102 

 The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 
 

 PART 2 - PRIVATE 
 

10. Urgent Items  
 

 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 
 



 
 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Cllr M A J Hood (Chair) 
Cllr D W King (Vice-Chair) 

 
 Cllr L Athwal 

Cllr K Barton 
Cllr G C Bridge 
Cllr J Clokey 
Cllr A Cope 
Cllr G B Hines 
 

Cllr F A Hoskins 
Cllr A Mehmet 
Cllr R W G Oliver 
Cllr B A Parry 
Cllr M R Rhodes 
Cllr K S Tunstall 
 

 



GUIDANCE ON HOW MEETINGS WILL BE CONDUCTED 

 

(1) Most of the Borough Council meetings are livestreamed, unless there is exempt 

or confidential business being discussed,  giving residents the opportunity to 

see decision making in action.  These can be watched via our YouTube 

channel.  When it is not possible to livestream meetings they are recorded and 

uploaded as soon as possible:  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPp-IJlSNgoF-ugSzxjAPfw/featured  

(2) There are no fire drills planned during the time a meeting is being held.  For the 

benefit of those in the meeting room, the fire alarm is a long continuous bell and 

the exits are via the doors used to enter the room.  An officer on site will lead 

any evacuation. 

(3) Should you need this agenda or any of the reports in a different format, or have 

any other queries concerning the meeting, please contact Democratic Services 

on committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk in the first instance. 

 

Attendance: 

- Members of the Committee are required to attend in person and be present in the 

meeting room.  Only these Members are able to move/ second or amend motions, 

and vote. 

- Other Members of the Council can join via MS Teams and can take part in any 

discussion and ask questions, when invited to do so by the Chair, but cannot 

move/ second or amend motions or vote on any matters. Members participating 

remotely are reminded that this does not count towards their formal committee 

attendance.  

- Occasionally, Members of the Committee are unable to attend in person and may 

join via MS Teams in the same way as other Members.  However, they are unable 

to move/ second or amend motions or vote on any matters if they are not present 

in the meeting room. As with other Members joining via MS Teams, this does not 

count towards their formal committee attendance. 

- Officers can participate in person or online. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPp-IJlSNgoF-ugSzxjAPfw/featured
mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


- Members of the public addressing an Area Planning Committee should attend in 

person.  However, arrangements to participate online can be considered in certain 

circumstances.  Please contact committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk for further 

information. 

Before formal proceedings start there will be a sound check of Members/Officers in 

the room.  This is done as a roll call and confirms attendance of voting Members. 

Ground Rules: 

The meeting will operate under the following ground rules: 

- Members in the Chamber should indicate to speak in the usual way and use the 

fixed microphones in front of them.  These need to be switched on when speaking 

or comments will not be heard by those participating online.  Please switch off 

microphones when not speaking. 

- If there any technical issues the meeting will be adjourned to try and rectify them.  

If this is not possible there are a number of options that can be taken to enable the 

meeting to continue.  These will be explained if it becomes necessary. 

For those Members participating online: 

- please request to speak using the ‘chat  or hand raised function’; 

- please turn off cameras and microphones when not speaking; 

- please do not use the ‘chat function’ for other matters as comments can be seen 

by all; 

- Members may wish to blur the background on their camera using the facility on 

Microsoft teams. 

- Please avoid distractions and general chat if not addressing the meeting 

- Please remember to turn off or silence mobile phones 

Voting: 

Voting may be undertaken by way of a roll call and each Member should verbally 

respond For, Against, Abstain.  The vote will be noted and announced by the 

Democratic Services Officer. 

Page 6

mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


Alternatively, votes may be taken by general affirmation if it seems that there is 

agreement amongst Members.  The Chairman will announce the outcome of the vote 

for those participating and viewing online. 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 

 
 

 
TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES 

 
Thursday, 19th October, 2023 

 
Present: Cllr M A J Hood (Chair), Cllr D W King (Vice-Chair), Cllr L Athwal, 

Cllr K Barton, Cllr G C Bridge, Cllr J Clokey, Cllr A Cope, 
Cllr G B Hines, Cllr F A Hoskins, Cllr R W G Oliver, Cllr M R Rhodes 
and Cllr K S Tunstall 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Mehmet and 
B A Parry. 
 
PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 

AP1 23/25    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest made in accordance with the 
Code of Conduct.  However, in the interests of transparency Cllr Rhodes 
advised that the planning agent was known to him in his role as an 
elected Member of the Borough Council.   It was noted that the 
application was also to be considered by the Committee for reasons of 
transparency.  
 

AP1 23/26    MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting of the Area 1 Planning 
Committee held on 27 July 2023 be approved as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 

AP1 23/27    GLOSSARY AND SUPPLEMENTARY MATTERS  
 
Decisions were taken on the following applications subject to the pre-
requisites, informatives, conditions or reasons for refusal set out in the 
report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental Health or 
in the variations indicated below.  Any supplementary reports were 
tabled at the meeting.  
 
Members of the public addressed the meeting where the required notice 
had been given and their comments were taken into account by the 
Committee when determining the application.  Speakers are listed under 
the relevant planning application shown below.   
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 19 October 2023 
 
 

 
2 

 

DECISIONS  TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH PART 3 OF THE CONSTITUTION (RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
COUNCIL FUNCTIONS) 
 

AP1 23/28    TM/23/01673/FL - BUILDINGS AT TRENCH FARM, 
COLDHARBOUR LANE, HILDENBOROUGH, TONBRIDGE  
 
Demolition of existing buildings comprising Atcost barn and cart shed; 
erection of one 5-bed dwelling and part conversion and extension of 
existing barn to create one 4-bed dwelling (resubmission of approved 
application TM/21/00605/FL). 
 
Due regard was given to the determining issues detailed in the report of 
the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental Health including 
the principle of development, green belt considerations, design, 
character and appearance and the impact on ecology.  Members were 
satisfied with the approach set out in respect of bats. 
 
RESOLVED: That planning permission be GRANTED in accordance 
with the submitted details, conditions, reasons and informatives set out 
in the report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environment 
Health, subject to the 
 
(1) Addition of informative  
 

1. During the demolition and construction phase, the hours of 
working (including deliveries) shall be restricted to Monday to 
Friday 07:30 hours - 18:30 hours. On Saturday 08:00 to 13:00 
hours, with no work on Sundays or Public Holidays. 

 
[Speakers: Ms J Hampson on behalf of the applicant]. 
 
MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 
 

AP1 23/29    PLANNING APPEALS, PUBLIC INQUIRIES AND HEARINGS  
 
There were no updates in respect of planning appeals, public enquiries 
and hearings held since the last meeting of the Planning Committee.  
The Chair commented that updates would be reported to future 
meetings.   
 

AP1 23/30    EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
There were no items considered in private. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 7.55 pm 
 
 

Page 10



1 
 

GLOSSARY of Abbreviations used in reports to Area Planning Committees 

 

A 

AAP   Area of Archaeological Potential 

AGA     Prior Approval: Agriculture (application suffix) 

AGN  Prior Notification: Agriculture (application suffix) 

AODN  Above Ordnance Datum, Newlyn 

AONB  Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

APC1   Area 1 Planning Committee 

APC2   Area 2 Planning Committee 

APC3   Area 3 Planning Committee 

AT   Advertisement consent (application suffix) 

 

B 

BALI  British Association of Landscape Industries 

BPN   Building Preservation Notice 

BRE   Building Research Establishment 

 

C 

CA   Conservation Area (designated area) 

CCEASC KCC Screening Opinion (application suffix) 

CCEASP KCC Scoping Opinion (application suffix) 

CCG NHS Kent and Medway Group 

CNA   Consultation by Neighbouring Authority (application suffix) 

CPRE  Council for the Protection of Rural England 

CR3   County Regulation 3 (application suffix – determined by KCC) 

CR4  County Regulation 4 (application suffix – determined by KCC) 

CTRL  Channel Tunnel Rail Link (application suffix) 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

D 

DCLG  Department for Communities and Local Government 

DCMS  Department for Culture, Media and Sport 

DEEM  Deemed application (application suffix) 

DEFRA  Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

DEPN  Prior Notification: Demolition (application suffix) 

DfT  Department for Transport  

DLADPD  Development Land Allocations Development Plan Document 

DMPO  Development Management Procedure Order 

DPD   Development Plan Document 

DPHEH  Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health 

DR3   District Regulation 3 

DR4   District Regulation 4 

DSSLT Director of Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services  

 

E 

EA   Environment Agency 

EIA  Environmental Impact Assessment  

EASC Environmental Impact Assessment Screening request (application 

suffix) 

EASP  Environmental Impact Assessment Scoping request (application suffix) 

EH   English Heritage 

EL   Electricity (application suffix) 

ELB   Ecclesiastical Exemption Consultation (Listed Building) 

EEO  Ecclesiastical Exemption Order  

ELEX   Overhead Lines (Exemptions) 

EMCG  East Malling Conservation Group 

ES  Environmental Statement 

EP  Environmental Protection 

 

 

Page 12



3 
 

F 

FRA   Flood Risk Assessment 

FC   Felling Licence 

FL   Full Application (planning application suffix) 

FLX  Full Application: Extension of Time  

FLEA   Full Application with Environmental Impact Assessment 

 

G 

GDPO  Town & Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 

Order 2015  

GOV   Consultation on Government Development 

GPDO  Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Order 2015 (as amended) 

 

H 

HE  Highways England  

HSE   Health and Safety Executive 

HN   Hedgerow Removal Notice (application suffix) 

HWRC Household Waste Recycling Centre 

 

I 

IDD  Internal Drainage District 

IDB  Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board 

IGN3 Kent Design Guide Review: Interim Guidance Note 3 Residential 

Parking 

 

K 

KCC   Kent County Council 

KCCVPS  Kent County Council Vehicle Parking Standards: Supplementary 

Planning Guidance SPG 4 

KDD   KCC Kent Design document 

Page 13



4 
 

KFRS  Kent Fire and Rescue Service 

KGT  Kent Garden Trust 

KWT   Kent Wildlife Trust 

 

L 

LB   Listed Building Consent (application suffix) 

LBX  Listed Building Consent: Extension of Time  

LDF   Local Development Framework 

LDLBP Lawful Development Proposed Listed Building (application suffix) 

LEMP  Landscape and Ecology Management Plan 

LLFA   Lead Local Flood Authority 

LMIDB  Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board 

LPA   Local Planning Authority 

LWS  Local Wildlife Site 

LDE  Lawful Development Certificate: Existing Use or Development 

(application suffix) 

LDP   Lawful Development Certificate: Proposed Use or 

Development (application suffix) 

LP  Local Plan 

LRD   Listed Building Consent Reserved Details (application suffix) 

 

M 

MBC   Maidstone Borough Council 

MC   Medway Council (Medway Towns Unitary Authority) 

MCA   Mineral Consultation Area 

MDE DPD  Managing Development and the Environment Development 

Plan Document 

MGB   Metropolitan Green Belt 

MHCL  Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government  

MIN  Mineral Planning Application (application suffix, KCC determined) 

MSI Member Site Inspection 

Page 14



5 
 

MWLP  Minerals & Waste Local Plan 

 

N 

NE   Natural England 

NMA   Non Material Amendment (application suffix) 

NPPF   National Planning Policy Framework 

 

O 

OA   Outline Application (application suffix) 

OAEA  Outline Application with Environment Impact Assessment (application 

suffix) 

OAX Outline Application: Extension of Time  

OB1O6D Details pursuant to S106 obligation (application suffix) 

OB106M Modify S106 obligation by agreement (application suffix) 

OB106V Vary S106 obligation (application suffix) 

OB106X Discharge S106 obligation (application suffix) 

 

P 

PC  Parish Council 

PD   Permitted Development 

PD4D  Permitted development - change of use flexible 2 year  

PDL  Previously Developed Land 

PDRA Permitted development – change of use agricultural building to flexible 

use (application suffix) 

PDV14J Permitted development - solar equipment on non-domestic premises 

(application suffix) 

PDV18 Permitted development - miscellaneous development (application 

suffix) 

PDVAF Permitted development – agricultural building to flexible use 

(application suffix) 

PDVAR Permitted development - agricultural building to residential (application 

suffix) 

Page 15



6 
 

PLVLR Permitted development - larger residential extension (application suffix) 

PDVOR Permitted development - office to residential (application suffix)  

PDVPRO Permitted development - pub to retail and/or office (application suffix) 

PDVSDR Permitted development storage/distribution to residential (application 

suffix) 

PDVSFR Permitted development PD – shops and financial to restaurant 

(application suffix) 

PDVSR Permitted development PD – shop and sui generis to residential 

(application suffix) 

POS   Public Open Space 

PPG  Planning Practice Guidance 

PWC  Prior Written Consent 

PROW  Public Right Of Way 

 

R 

RD   Reserved Details (application suffix) 

RM   Reserved Matters (application suffix)   

 

S 

SDC  Sevenoaks District Council 

SEW   South East Water 

SFRA  Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (background for the emerging Local 

Plan) 

SNCI   Site of Nature Conservation Interest 

SPAB   Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings 

SPD   Supplementary Planning Document 

SSSI   Site of Special Scientific Interest 

SW  Southern Water  

 

T 

TC   Town Council 

TCAAP  Tonbridge Town Centre Area Action Plan 

Page 16



7 
 

TCS   Tonbridge Civic Society 

TEPN56/TEN Prior Notification: Telecoms (application suffix) 

TMBC  Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council 

TMBCS  Tonbridge & Malling Borough Core Strategy 2007 

TMBLP  Tonbridge & Malling Borough Local Plan 1998 

TNCA  Notification: Trees in Conservation Areas (application suffix) 

TPOC  Trees subject to TPO (application suffix) 

TRD   Tree Consent Reserved Details (application suffix) 

TRICS Trip Rate Information Computer System 

TWBC  Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

 

U 

UCO   Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 (as amended) 

UMIDB  Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board 

 

W 

WAS   Waste Disposal Planning Application (KCC determined) 

WTS  Waste Transfer Station 

 

 

(Version 2/2021) 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 
 
Tonbridge  TM/22/02694/FL 
Cage Green and Angel 
 
Proposal: Erection of a 9 storey building comprising of 118 residential 

units, together with associated car and cycle parking, 
landscaping and associated works 

 
Location: 

 
Formerly River Centre Car Park Medway Wharf Road 
Tonbridge Kent    

 
Go to: 

 

Recommendation 
 

 

1. Description: 

1.1 The application seeks full planning permission for a residential re-development 

of the currently vacant car park to the River Centre.  The scheme proposal is 

seeking redevelopment of a brownfield site to provide 118 residential 

apartments and ancillary floor space within a part 7-, part 8-, and part 9-storey 

building, together with associated car and cycle parking and works to public 

realm, landscaping and other associated works. 

1.2 The application follows two previous refused schemes on the site for 

significantly larger developments of 252 units (TM/18/00886/FL) and 183 units 

(TM/20/02554/FL).  The previous application proposed a built form of up to 16 

storeys in height with the current application now reducing the maximum height 

down to nine storeys. 

1.3 The proposed Housing Mix can be broken down as follows; 

 • Total Residential Units - 118 

 • Studio units - 22no. (18.5%) 

 • 1-Bed units - 47no. (40%) 

 • 2-Bed units - 46no. (39%) 

 • 3-Bed units - 3no. (2.5%) 

1.4 Also included as part of the development is the following; 

 • 37 car parking spaces which are proposed to be active electric charging 

spaces, and will include car club and accessible parking spaces; 

 • 118 secure cycle spaces, including electric charging spaces and oversize 

spaces for larger cycles 

 • 8 visitor cycle spaces 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

1.5 The proposals have taken on board the previous concerns regarding the bulk 

and height of the development and have been designed with consideration of 

the surrounding context, particularly the key views from Tonbridge Castle. 

1.6 The buildings are proposed up to 9-storeys, with the heights stepping down to 

7-storeys to the south. The tallest element will be towards Medway Wharf Road 

and the lower element will be closer to the River. 

1.7 The overall built form is designed with the blocks undulating in height to allow 

views through the development. The roof style proposed is similar to other 

developments in the area with a wharf-style roof line to blend in with the existing 

roof-scape of the town. This style allows views through the gaps in the massing 

and gives the impression it is a group of buildings rather than a single 

continuous mass. 

1.8 Different heights are proposed to each ‘section’ of the building and through 

varying the roof ridge angles. The roof ridge line proposes a combination of flat 

roof and pitched roof elements with building heights varying between 7 and 9 

stories over three separate blocks, with lower flat roof terraced areas in 

between. 

1.9 The largely east and west facing orientation has resulted in the residential units 

avoiding a northerly outlook, with smaller units facing east and west and larger 

units benefitting from dual aspect and southerly outlooks.  Each unit has access 

to a balcony area. 

1.10 Access to the site would be via the existing vehicular access from Medway 

Wharf Road. This would remain the sole vehicular access to the site, with 

pedestrian and cycle access also available via the existing footbridge to the 

south of the site. 

1.11 The proposed landscaping would include a footpath link from Medway Wharf 

Road through to the pedestrian bridge over the Gas Works Stream to the south 

of the site. The landscaping design delivers new hard and soft landscaping 

around the building at ground floor level, which will include new paving, 

planting, trees and street furniture. A grass amenity space is provided adjacent 

to the steps and the river bank.  Three existing mature trees are retained along 

the river bank. Ten new trees are proposed at ground level to replace three low 

quality existing trees to be removed. 

1.12 Further open space is proposed in the form of two roof terraces, with the sixth 

floor terrace proposed to be divided into a series of outdoor rooms for varying 

purposes, including sunbathing, outdoor dining and relaxing. The seventh floor 

terrace also provides a large communal roof terrace, which is divided into a 

number of outdoor spaces. Sculptural play boulders would be provided for 

younger children at both levels.  

Page 20



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

2. Reason for reporting to Committee: 

2.1 Originally at the request of Cllr Boughton when the ward member but repeated 

by the current ward members due to the history of the site and its relationship to 

the setting of Tonbridge Castle and the wider surroundings.  

3. The Site: 

3.1 The application site is located on the south side of Medway Wharf Road, within 

the urban confines of Tonbridge, on the south side of the River Medway. The 

site comprises about 0.29ha and was previously used as a car park to serve the 

adjacent River Centre. It is situated between the 2 storey (four storey height) 

River Centre building and single storey (two storey height) industrial buildings of 

Tannery Trading Estate adjacent to the west and north west. The 8 storey 

Ashby’s Point building comprising residential units is adjacent to the south east, 

and Waterway House which is 6 storeys high, with a two storey glazed curved 

element to the west elevation, lies to the north of the site. The Gas Works 

Stream forms the physical boundary to the south of the site, over which spans 

an existing footbridge from the south east corner of the site to the Council car 

park on the southern side of the stream. 

3.2 The site lies within the Tonbridge Central Area as defined in the Tonbridge 

Central Area Action Plan (TCAAP), and is just beyond, but abutting the town 

centre boundary. It is also adjacent to development allocations site, Tannery 

Trading Estate, identified in policy TCA11(l) of the TCAAP for mix of residential 

commercial office and business space. 

3.3 The Tonbridge Conservation Area lies approximately 50m to the north west and 

comprises a lower density and scale of development. It is located within an Area 

of Archaeological Potential, Flood Zone 3, and a Groundwater Source 

Protection Zone (SPZ3). 

3.4 Tonbridge Castle which is a Scheduled Ancient Monument and Grade I Listed 

Building is situated in the wider setting to the north west and forms an important 

part of the surrounding context of the site. 

3.5 As mentioned, a mix of building heights surround the site ranging from single 

storey (double height) industrial units, to 8 storey residential flatted 

developments. The buildings surrounding the site are a mix of uses and 

architectural styles. Residential flats are the predominant use in the immediate 

vicinity, with the community use of the River Centre adjacent and industrial and 

commercial uses in the wider surrounding area. Much of the surrounding 

residential use is within wharf style buildings of varying heights, whereas 

Ashby’s Point immediately adjacent to the east has a more modern design style 

incorporating a rounded end to the north. 

 

Page 21



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

4. Planning History (relevant): 

   

TM/99/02620/FL Grant With Conditions 6 September 2000 

Conference centre and residential development comprising 100 dwellings, 
associated car parking (undercroft and surface), new access and landscaping 
   

TM/06/03402/FL Approved 21 June 2011 

Redevelopment of site to provide 73 residential apartments, 34 units of boarding 
accommodation for students and conference delegates, lecture and meeting 
rooms and ancillary facilities, a children's nursery, pedestrian and cycle bridge 
and associated parking, landscaping and servicing 

   

TM/13/03956/FL Approved 19 March 2014 

Removal of conditions 9 and 12 (Provision of footbridge and details of traffic 
management scheme)  of planning permission TM/06/03402/FL (Redevelopment 
of site to provide 73 residential apartments, 34 units of boarding accommodation 
for students and conference delegates, lecture and meeting rooms and ancillary 
facilities, a children's nursery, pedestrian and cycle bridge and associated 
parking, landscaping and servicing) 
   

TM/18/00996/FL Refuse 22 June 2018 

Development of 252 self-contained build to rent residential apartments 
(comprising 123 studio, 80 one-bedroom and 49 two-bedroom apartments), 
associated car parking, roof garden and public realm landscape amenity areas 
and servicing 
   

TM/20/02554/FL Refuse 25 October 2021 

Erection of a building of 8 to 16 storeys comprising 183 x residential units. 
Associated car and cycle parking, landscaping and other associated works 
   

 
5. Consultees: 

5.1 Given the detailed comments received from KCC Highways, KCC Lead local 

flood authority, Environment Agency, Historic England, Southern Water, KCC 

Estates and the NHS these comments are appended in full at the end of this 

report 

5.2 Environmental Health- contamination: No objection subject to conditions 

5.3 Environmental Health – noise: in agreement that the ‘Agents of Change’ 

principle is not an issue and that proposed properties can be appropriately 

treated to ensure no noise impacts from adjacent uses. 

Page 22



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

5.4 Housing Services: Satisfied with the level of affordable housing provision given 

the viability issues. 

5.5 Leisure Services: No objections subject to contributions towards off-site open 

space provision and enhancement. 

5.6 Conservation Officer: Was involved in the pre-application process and consider 

that the proposed design is acceptable in terms both designated and non-

designated heritage assets. 

5.7 Kent Police: No objections 

5.8 HSE: No objections 

5.9 Kent Fire and Rescue: No objections  

5.10 Tonbridge Civic Society: 

 Generally speaking, the proposal aligns with the approach to further develop the 

central part of Tonbridge. As per the Civic Society’s recent response to the 

Local Plan consultation the centre of Tonbridge is well suited to some additional 

mid-level (in terms of height) housing and other development, given the town’s 

retail, transport and leisure facilities and its evolving needs. However, there are 

some areas of the town where such added density is approaching its limits, and 

we would argue that the Medway Wharf Road area is one of these, for the 

reasons given below. There are also specific constraints on the site, which are 

also detailed below. These caveats means that while development on the site 

appears inevitable, we ask the planning authorities to reject this proposal, or to 

seek substantial changes to it. 

 Our first concern is the overall size of the building. This is a very big structure, 

covering both a very large percentage of the constrained site as well as pushing 

higher than the surrounding buildings. Indeed, the proposal seems likely to be 

the tallest building in Tonbridge. With such height the building would loom over 

near-neighbours (a large number of whom have separately complained to this 

proposal), as well as stand very large within the townscape. While the 

developers claim it will not make a significant impact on the sightline from the 

castle, even their own projections show that the proposal is tall enough to 

interfere with the ridgeline. At six storeys – our preference for a maximum 

height in this part of town – this would not be the case. Meanwhile, efforts to 

break up the frontage and rooflines (the claimed “broken-down massing with 

articulated roofscape and use of high-quality robust materials”) instead make 

the building appear confused and incoherent. 

 The second concern regards parking. At 37 spaces for 118 apartments, this is 

insufficient and does not reflect the inevitable need among residents. And given 

the present difficulties with car parking in the immediate area – which this 

Page 23



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

development will worsen, given it’s being built on a car park – this should be a 

matter to be addressed with seriousness. 

 Which leads onto access. Medway Wharf Road has one main exit - westerly 

onto Sovereign Way / High Street. Adding another hundred plus apartments 

means more traffic (not just residents but services, deliveries etc). Traffic in the 

town in general has reached a point where it is causing significant difficulties but 

there are specific concerns around safety around Medway Wharf Road. 

Consideration should be given to requiring access via a bridge across the Gas 

Works Stream onto Sovereign Way North Car Park. Certainly there should be a 

requirement that public access is in place through the site from the above-

mentioned car park to the main riverside to the north of the development. 

 As other objectors have noted, the history of this site is complex and not 

particularly edifying, and is surrounded by other developments of significant 

housing density. It is also situated close to the Tonbridge Conservation Area 

and so care needs to be taken on the impact on the setting of heritage assets. 

In its current form, the proposed development would result in a dominant built 

form with a direct visual impact on views of the skyline and harmful impacts to 

views from Tonbridge Castle. As such it is contrary to the requirements of 

paragraphs 189, 199, 200 and 202 of the NPPF. Moreover, the development 

also represents an overdevelopment of the site which would have detrimental 

impact on the character of the area. The height, scale, design and use of 

materials would result in an intrusive built form contrary to policies CP1 and 

CP24 of TMBC’s strategy 2007 and policy SQ1. 

5.11 Tonbridge Historical Society: 

 The proposed development at the site known as River Centre Car Park, lies 

south of the River Medway and abuts a stream known as Gas Works Stream 

and within the towns historic flood plan. 

 In Tonbridge Historical Society's opinion, whilst the proposals have some merit 

over recent proposals, they still represent an overdevelopment of the site in 

relation to the neighbouring properties. 

 The articulated roofs respect the towns commercial riverside industries whilst 

partly acknowledging the towns low-rise roofscape - a reduction in height over 

previous scheme.  However, the high monolithic mass of the elevations 

dominate and overpower the adjoining properties. 

 The Society also has concerns about the level of parking and whether the site 

can promote sustainable transport opportunities. 

 The Society would take issue with the Heritage Consultants view that the site 

would have limited archaeological interest due to the lack of prehistoric and 

medieval finds in the southern part of the town. THS, contend this is due to 

Page 24



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

either wrong attribution or the lack of opportunities and as such deserves 

greater study. Especially given that late Jursaic finds have been identified 

during the A21 works in the late 1960's and more recently during the works 

towards Pembury. 

 Within Appendix 1 & 2 of the Archaeological Desk Based Assessment various 

organic matter including - 1m layer of peat, timber and leaf litter and tree 

branches etc, have been identified in a number of trial pits, at depths, that 

deserve closer archaeological examination. 

 However, notwithstanding the schemes limited merits the Society cannot fully 

support this scheme for the above reasons. 

 Should the Council decide to approve this scheme, the Society would ask that a 

Planning Condition be placed on the developers for a geo-archaeological field 

evaluation study and a programme of post excavation assessment and 

publication be attached to any consent. 

 This is to ensure that features of geo-archaeological interest are properly 

examined, recorded and disseminated. 

5.12 Private Reps: 

 60 letters of objection received raising the following issues: 

 Building too large for the site and too high. 

 Out of keeping with the surrounding area. 

 Too many flats 

 Site is in a flood risk area. 

 Lead to overshadowing of neighbouring buildings 

 Loss of privacy to neighbouring buildings 

 Would be an eyesore 

 Noise and disturbance 

 Too much development in Tonbridge which is leading to overcrowding. 

 Not enough parking and will lead to nuisance parking in the vicinity. 

 Inadequate local medical facilities 

 Impact on traffic generation 

Page 25



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 Site should be used as parking for the church 

 Site should be used as an open space for the benefit of the town. 

3 letters of support received making the following points: 

 Should grasp the opportunity to deliver new housing stock to alleviate 

restricted supply and let the town flourish 

 Scheme is an excellent example of high density sustainable town centre 

housing being only a short walk from all facilities 

 Perfect opportunity to develop on brownfield land rather than build on the 

greenbelt 

 Opportunity to stimulate local economy with more footfall in the high street 

 Chance to deliver green, walkable, modern homes for Tonbridge 

6. Determining Issues: 

6.1 Policy CP11 of the TMBCS seeks to concentrate development within the 

confines of a number of specified urban areas in the Borough, including 

Tonbridge, where there is the greatest potential for re-use of previously 

developed land and where the need to travel can be minimised by being located 

close to existing services, jobs and public transport. The proposed development 

would not conflict with the intention of this policy in the broadest of policy terms. 

6.2 The principle of development on this site is also established by the previous 

Extant permission granted in 2011 for a mixed-use development providing 73 

residential apartments, 34 units of boarding accommodation for students and 

conference delegates, lecture and meeting rooms and ancillary facilities, a 

children’s nursery, pedestrian and cycle bridge and associated parking, 

landscaping and servicing, (TM/06/03402/FL). This comprised a 9-storey 

building with a 13-storey ovate glazed tower element to the front. 

6.3 Following this, permission was granted in March 2014 to remove conditions 9 & 

12 under a Section 73 application, (TM/13/03956), which related to details of 

the traffic management scheme and a provision of a footbridge over the Gas 

Works Stream. The permissions have been implemented due to the piled 

foundations constructed in the southwest corner of the site which commenced 

in May 2014, and therefore within the 3 year period stated within condition 1 of 

the permission. 

6.4 There were two subsequent applications that were refused for developments of 

up to 16 storeys in height, one for 252 units and the second 183 units.  This last 

application (TM/20/02554/FL) was refused for the following three reasons:- 

Page 26



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 1. The proposed development by virtue of its scale, siting, height and 

appearance would result in harm to the significance of Tonbridge Castle and the 

Conservation Area within which it sits, due to the detrimental impact upon the 

setting of these heritage assets. The scale and form in conjunction with the 

siting of the development would result in an overly dominant built form with a 

direct visual impact upon views of the skyline, which would give rise to harmful 

impacts to views from Tonbridge Castle. This would result in less-than-

substantial harm to the Conservation Area and Tonbridge Castle. There are no 

public benefits arising from the proposed development that would outweigh this 

identified harm. The proposal would therefore be contrary to the requirements of 

paragraphs 189, 199, 200, 202 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(2021). 

 2.  The proposed development, by virtue of the number of units, overall 

footprint, associated scale and subsequent high density which is not 

commensurate to other development in the locality, would result in a significant 

overdevelopment of the site that would have a detrimental impact on the 

character of the area. Furthermore, the associated height, scale, unsympathetic 

design and use of external materials of the tower building, would result in a 

visually dominant and intrusive built form and appearance within the townscape 

and broader urban landscape. These factors when taken in combination would 

be demonstrably harmful to the character and visual amenities of both the 

immediate and wider locality. The development is therefore contrary to policies 

CP1 and CP24 of the Tonbridge and Malling Borough Core Strategy 2007, 

policy SQ1 of the Managing Development and the Environment Development 

Plan Document 2010, policy TCA1 of the Tonbridge Central Area Action Plan 

2008 and paragraphs 126, 130, and 134 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework (2021). 

 3.  The development proposes a level of affordable housing provision that is 

significantly below the level required by adopted policy. Insufficient evidence 

has been submitted to sufficiently justify such an under provision and therefore 

the development is contrary to Policy CP17 of the Tonbridge and Malling 

Borough Core Strategy 2007 and paragraphs 62 and 63 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

6.5 The current application has been prepared with the previous refusal reasons in 

mind and the aim of satisfying the local planning authority that they have now 

been overcome to such a degree as to merit a grant of permission. 

6.6 The key differences to note are: 

 • A reduction in maximum number of storeys from 16 to 9; 

 • A reduction in number of units proposed from 183 to 118; 

Page 27



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 • A reduction in parking provision from 49 to 37 and the provision of 118 cycle 

storage spaces; 

 • Provision of 20% affordable housing on-site; 

 • A new design approach and improved quality of accommodation for occupiers. 

6.7 The site is a sizeable area of brownfield land within the centre of Tonbridge. 

The governments Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill is seeking to make such 

sites more attractive for developers by allowing local planning authorities to take 

a more flexible approach in applying planning policies that would otherwise 

inhibit making the most efficient use of a site.  As a result of this bill the 

government has published a consultation document for brownfield land.  Whilst 

this document carries no weight at present it identifies that the  ‘brownfield first’ 

approach is being promoted to further incentivise the effective and efficient use 

of brownfield land. 

6.8 The Council cannot presently demonstrate a five year supply of housing when 

measured against its objectively assessed need. This means that the 

requirements of paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2023) fall to be applied. This sets 

out the presumption in favour of sustainable development which for decision 

taking means: 

 c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 

development plan without delay; or 

 d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which 

are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 

permission unless: 

 i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 

proposed; or 

 ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 

taken as a whole. 

6.9 The development plan must remain the starting point for determining any 

planning application (as statutorily required by s38 (6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2006) which is overtly reiterated at paragraph 12 of 

the NPPF, the consequence of this must be an exercise to establish conformity 

between the development plan and the policies contained within the Framework 

as a whole and thus ultimately the acceptability of the scheme for 

determination. 

Page 28



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

6.10 The footnote to this paragraph defines ‘the policies’ as mentioned above to 

include those relating to a number of protections and constraints. Included in 

this list are designated heritage assets and areas at risk of flooding. It is 

therefore necessary to consider the development proposals against these 

restrictive policies in order to establish whether the presumption re-emerges to 

be applied in this case. I will consider each in turn below. 

 Flood risk 

6.11 Paragraph 165 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at 

risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at 

highest risk (whether existing or future). Where development is necessary in 

such areas, the development should be made safe for its lifetime without 

increasing flood risk elsewhere. 

6.12 At paragraph 168, it states that the aim of the sequential test is to steer new 

development to areas with the lowest risk of flooding from any source. 

Development should not be allocated or permitted if there are reasonably 

available sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a lower 

risk of flooding. The strategic flood risk assessment will provide the basis for 

applying this test. The sequential approach should be used in areas known to 

be at risk now or in the future from any form of flooding. 

6.13 Paragraph 169 states that if it is not possible for development to be located in 

areas with a lower risk of flooding (taking into account wider sustainable 

development objectives), the exception test may have to be applied. The need 

for the exception test will depend on the potential vulnerability of the site and of 

the development proposed, in line with the Flood Risk Vulnerability 

Classification set out in Annex 3. 

6.14 Paragraph 170 explains that the application of the exception test should be 

informed by a strategic or site specific flood risk assessment, depending on 

whether it is being applied during plan production or at the application stage. To 

pass the exception test it should be demonstrated that: a) the development 

would provide wider sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh the 

flood risk; and b) the development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of 

the vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where 

possible, will reduce flood risk overall. Paragraph 171 states that both elements 

of the exception test should be satisfied for development to be allocated or 

permitted. 

6.15 Paragraph 173 sets out that when determining any planning applications, local 

planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. 

Where appropriate, applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-

risk assessment. Development should only be allowed in areas at risk of 

flooding where, in the light of this assessment (and the sequential and 

exception tests, as applicable) it can be demonstrated that: a) within the site, 

Page 29



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk, unless 

there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location; b) the development is 

appropriately flood resistant and resilient such that, in the event of a flood, it 

could be quickly brought back into use without significant refurbishment; c) it 

incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that 

this would be inappropriate; d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and e) 

safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an 

agreed emergency plan. 

6.16 Paragraph 175 finally states that major developments should incorporate 

sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be 

inappropriate. The systems used should: a) take account of advice from the 

lead local flood authority; b) have appropriate proposed minimum operational 

standards; c) have maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an acceptable 

standard of operation for the lifetime of the development; and d) where possible, 

provide multifunctional benefits. 

6.17 These requirements are broadly reflected within policy CP10 of the TMBCS and 

pertinent policies within the TCAAP. 

6.18 The site lies within Flood Zone 3. The FRA submitted with the current 

application is supported by a sequential test which confirms the site is 

appropriate as no other suitable alternative locations were considered to be 

reasonably available in Flood Zone 1 or 2. The FRA findings deemed this to be 

acceptable and to pass the exception test as per the NPPF requirements. 

6.19 The development proposed incorporates a number of flood mitigation measures 

including no land raising on the application site; no sleeping accommodation 

proposed at ground level with all of the proposed apartments at first floor level 

or higher with finished floor levels set nearly 4m above the 1:100+70% floor 

level required by the EA; the ground floor open car park and bin and bike 

storage areas will be floodable; all new plant will be located either on the first 

floor or ninth floor; flood resilient construction measures will be used, where 

possible, in the construction of the building; and a Flood Warning and 

Evacuation Plan has been prepared. 

6.20 The proposals also include Sustainable Drainage Systems (‘SuDS’), as detailed 

within the Flood Risk Assessment (‘FRA’) and Drainage Strategy report. The 

surface water drainage strategy incorporates the following measures: 

 • Rainwater harvesting via the roof terraces and green roof area; 

 • An attenuation based drainage strategy; 

 • Discharge of post development runoff to the Gas Works Stream, at greenfield 

runoff rates; and 

Page 30



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 • Provision of tanked permeable pavement beneath the parking areas. 

6.21 This strategy is considered acceptable by KCC LLFA. 

6.22 Sewage capacity was discussed with Southern Water prior to the submission of 

the application. They confirmed their aim to provide the necessary capacity 

within 24 months following a grant of permission. It is proposed to use mains 

sewers to service the building. 

6.23 The Environment Agency has confirmed agreement with the findings of the FRA 

and are supportive of a grant of permission subject to a number of conditions 

being attached.  Given the submitted information and the consultation 

responses I consider that there are no restrictive policies in respect of flood risk 

that lead to a clear reason for refusal. 

 Heritage Impacts 

6.24 The proposed development site is within a historic environment of high 

significance including the setting of a scheduled monument and Grade I listed 

building, Tonbridge Castle. 

6.25 Paragraph 200 states that in determining applications, local planning authorities 

should require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets 

affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail 

should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient 

to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a 

minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been consulted 

and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary. 

Where a site on which development is proposed includes, or has the potential to 

include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning authorities 

should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment 

and, where necessary, a field evaluation. 

6.26 Paragraph 201 states that local planning authorities should identify and assess 

the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a 

proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) 

taking account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They 

should take this into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a 

heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s 

conservation and any aspect of the proposal. 

6.27 In terms of considering potential impacts arising from development proposals, 

paragraph 205 states that when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 

should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, 

the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential 

Page 31



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 

significance. 

6.28 Paragraph 208 goes on to state that where a development proposal will lead to 

less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, 

this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 

including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

6.29 Paragraph 209 sets out that the effect of an application on the significance of a 

non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the 

application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-

designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having 

regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 

asset. 

6.30 It must also be remembered that the LPA has statutory duties placed on it by 

the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Section 66(1) 

of the 1990 Act requires the decision maker to have special regard to the 

desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of 

special architectural or historic interest that they possess. Section 72(1) of the 

1990 Act similarly requires the decision maker  to pay special attention to the 

desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 

conservation areas. 

6.31 The site is located outside of the Conservation Area boundary and is 

approximately 35m south-east of the southern boundary. The nearest listed 

building is over 350m from the site. At present, despite their close proximity, the 

site is not considered to contribute to the character and appearance of the 

Conservation Area, nor the setting of the listed buildings, by virtue of interposing 

development and the lack of intervisibility or historic functional relationship 

between the two. 

6.32 The application is supported by a detailed Heritage, Townscape and Visual 

Impact Statement.  The Heritage Assessment concludes that the proposed 

development would be relatively innocuous from many of the key views. 

Although the proposed development is more visible in the townscape views, the 

proposal is not considered to disrupt or unduly obscure the relationship between 

Tonbridge Castle and its surrounding topography. Therefore, there is very 

limited potential for the proposals to limit our understanding of the Castle’s 

historic purpose and present heritage value. As such the level of potential 

‘harm’ to its significance is considered to be very low. The proposed 

development would not detract from the ability of the observer to recognise and 

appreciate the special interest of Tonbridge Castle nor Tonbridge Conservation 

Area. There would be no potential impacts on the Quarry Hill Conservation Area 

either. 

Page 32



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

6.33 The proposed development has been subject to detailed discussions with 

Heritage England at pre-application stage.  The detailed comments from 

Heritage England confirm that whilst the proposed development would be highly 

visible from the viewpoint on the top of the Castle Gatehouse they note that the 

proposed height is not substantially higher than the Ashby’s Point building just 

east of the proposal.  A number of design choices, such as the wharf-like 

gabled roofline, the stepped heights, the articulation of the structure, and the 

use of darker, brick tone materials that are more in keeping with the surrounding 

structures also help to integrate the proposals within the historic environment of 

the area more broadly. This integration is considered to lessen the impact of the 

structure within the setting of the scheduled monument. 

6.34 The comments received from Historic England consider that the current 

proposals for this site have substantially reduced the potential for harm to the 

significance of the scheduled monument and historic environment overall when 

compared to the previous planning application for which permission was 

refused (TM/20/02554/FL).  Historic England does not object to the application 

on heritage grounds. However, they consider the proposed development would 

still result in some adverse effects due to the alteration of views from Tonbridge 

Castle.  Their view is though the effect on Tonbridge Castle would be on the 

lower end of less-than-substantial harm in NPPF terms. This is because the 

development proposals have considered the heritage sensitivity of the site and 

limit harm to designated heritage assets through design, but ultimately the 

height and massing of the structure would still be highly visible in key views out 

from the castle, although this is balanced against the height of the surrounding 

buildings. 

6.35 As per paragraph 208 in the NPPF, any remaining harm to heritage assets 

needs to be balanced against the public benefits of the application. In doing so 

great weight must be given to the conservation of the heritage assets 

regardless of whether the harm is less than substantial and the more important 

the asset, the greater the weight should be (para 199). 

6.36 The Councils Conservation Officer has also been involved with the pre-

application discussions on the revised submission.  The design is now 

considered to not have a detrimental impact on the overall townscape and the 

setting of the wider conservation area as a whole.  The revised massing of the 

building is considered to be of a size and design that respects the site and its 

wider conservation area surroundings. 

6.37 It is therefore concluded that the whilst the development is within a historic 

environment of high significance including the setting of a scheduled monument 

and Grade I listed building, Tonbridge Castle and the wider Tonbridge 

Conservation Area it would amount to less than substantial harm in NPPF 

terms.  The harm relates only to the height of the building which is though 

commensurate with those in its immediate surroundings. 

Page 33



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

6.38 It is considered that the NPPF tests regarding harm are therefore met and as 

such the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out at paragraph 

11 (d) (ii) re-emerges and needs to be applied. The remainder of the 

assessment must therefore be undertaken within the context of the tilted 

planning balance. It is on this basis that the remainder of the analysis, and the 

conclusions drawn, follow. 

 Character, Townscape and Visual Amenity 

6.39 Policy CP24 of the TMBCS requires development to be of a high quality and be 

well designed to respect the site and its surroundings in terms of its scale, 

layout, siting, character and appearance.  Any new development which is 

adjacent to the river should respect its sensitive location and the local character 

at that particular section of the river and should aim to improve the appearance 

and biodiversity of the riverside.  Policy SQ1 of the MDE DPD advises that new 

development should protect, conserve and, where possible, enhance the 

character and local distinctiveness of the area. 

6.40 Policy TCA1 of the TCAAP sets out as follows in respect of quality of new 

development within the town: 

6.41 Development within the Central Area of Tonbridge, will be required to satisfy the 

following requirements: 

 a) on sites adjoining the River Medway, or its tributaries, proposals must 

positively address the water, to include the location of doors and entrances, 

principal windows, shop fronts, balconies or other features, and allow for 

unrestricted public access to the waterside through the provision of pedestrian 

and cycle links and enhancements to the public realm; 

 b) proposals must provide a well designed, animated frontage adjoining all 

streets, squares, bridges, gateways and other public spaces through the 

location of doors and entrances, principal windows, shop fronts (or shop window 

displays where non-retail uses are accepted in retail units), balconies or other 

features, providing a clear definition, but seamless character between public 

and private space; 

 c) proposals must make provision for, or not prejudice the provision of, a 

connected network of streets, footpaths and cyclepaths, which is integrated 

within the existing street network, giving priority to pedestrians through the 

design and layout of all routes, width of pavements and positioning of crossings, 

and permitting appropriate access for service and emergency vehicles; 

 d) car, motorcycle and bicycle parking provision must be integrated into the 

design and layout of development, and minimise visual impact within the public 

realm; 

Page 34



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 e) the design of development, encompassing scale, layout, site coverage, and 

orientation of buildings, external appearance, roofscape (including any 

necessary provision for the screening of service plant), materials and hard and 

soft landscape, must respect the context of the site and the character of the part 

of the Town Centre within which it is located, especially when viewed from the 

Castle and from high view points to the south of the Town Centre, and facilitate 

the proper use of CCTV; and 

 f) a mix of land uses will be sought on individual sites where consistent with 

other policies in the plan, but regard should be had to the compatibility of 

neighbouring uses. New development should not cause harm to the amenities 

or character of the area in terms of noise, vibration, smell, safety or health, 

traffic or other impacts. 

6.42 Section 8 of the NPPF requires developments to achieve healthy, inclusive and 

safe places which promote social interaction in terms of their street layouts and 

allow for easy pedestrian and cycle connections within and between 

neighbourhoods and active street frontages. As per paragraph 96 of the NPPF, 

layouts of new developments should enable and support healthy lifestyles, 

through encouraging walking and cycling. 

6.43 Paragraph 131 of the NPPF emphasises that good design is key to creating 

better places to live and work. Paragraph 135 requires the LPA to ensure that 

development will contribute to the quality of an area for the lifetime of the 

development, is visually attractive, sympathetic to the local character and 

history of both surrounding built environment and landscape setting, without 

discouraging increased densities for example. This is exactly the balance that 

needs to be struck with this proposed development. 

6.44 Paragraph 135 also encourages the establishment of a strong sense of place, 

with development that creates attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to 

live, work and visit. Optimising site potential with an appropriate amount and 

mix of development, whilst creating safe inclusive and accessible places which 

aid in the promotion of health and wellbeing for users of the development are 

also required attributes. 

6.45 Paragraph 139 (b) of the NPPF states that significant weight should be given to 

developments which help raise the standard of design more generally in the 

area, so long as they fit in with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.  

Paragraph 139 of the NPPF is also key in that it requires development to reflect 

local design policies and government design guidance, including SPDs such as 

design codes and guides.  The balance between design and new development 

is mentioned in that design must not be used as valid reason to object where it 

complies with the clear expectations of planning policies.   

Page 35



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

6.46 Paragraph 162 (b) states that new development should take account of 

landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping to minimise 

energy consumption. 

6.47 The National Design Guide is also a material consideration, in this case most 

notably in respect of context, identity and built form. 

6.48 The concept of a high density development with a tower element on this site 

has been considered for a number of years. The extant permitted scheme 

included a tower of 13 storeys, a building which would introduce a prominent 

mass of built form to this part of Tonbridge.  Most recent refused applications for 

the site have proposed larger, higher density schemes of up to 16 storeys. 

6.49 The design has now been revised to feature a building of a maximum of 9 

storeys, with the density, layout, scale and massing and architectural style of 

the proposed development being amended to reflect the context of the site.  

The proposal has been designed to make efficient use of the land and positively 

contribute to the position of the site adjacent to the River Medway whilst 

preserving the setting of heritage assets in the surrounding area. 

6.50 The proposals have been designed to maximise healthy and sustainable living 

through the encouragement of sustainable modes of transport such as walking 

and cycle,and reducing car dependency. 

6.51 The ground floor comprises car parking, cycle stores, refuse stores, plant and 

communal entrances to the two cores. The floors above comprise the 

residential units, with necessary plant rooms towards the front of the scheme. 

6.52 The site layout has been derived to meet the requirements of local and national 

policy. The proposed site layout enables an opportunity to redevelop the 

underutilised site to bring new life and an appropriate response to an urban 

location, adjacent to an important local amenity in the River Medway. The 

proposed scheme is formed of a single block which is proportionally articulated 

to step back from the site boundaries in response to the articulation of the 

neighbouring building lines and also to create meaningful landscaping 

opportunities at ground floor level and assist in servicing and vehicle 

movements.  The proposed site layout also enhances permeability through the 

creation of a new pathway to link to the footbridge to the south of the site.  

6.53 With regard to the design itself, this has been revised for this submission to now 

be more of a wharf-style development with a roof line that is broken up to 

respect the existing roof-scape of the town and give views through the gaps in 

the massing. This gives the impression of a group of buildings rather than a 

single continuous mass.  The effect is increased by the use of a material palette 

consisting of a rich red facing brick, and a complementary lighter red multi-brick 

for the main elevation treatments, with a bronze finish triangular-profiled 

articulated aluminium cladding at the upper level of each of the pitched roof 

Page 36



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

segments, with standing seam metal roofs in a matching colour.  The balcony 

balustrades, handrails and railing would be finished in grey powder coated 

aluminium and would break up the brickwork.  Similarly grey powder coated 

metal window frames are proposed to be used to give an industrial style 

appearance. 

6.54 The elevations of the proposed building have reduced considerably the scale 

and massing of the scheme so that it now respects the general character of the 

townscape of this area.  The reduction in the perceived massing of the building 

also has the impact of reducing the bulk of the building in the longer views 

through the town.  

6.55 The design of the proposal enables a number of improvements to the public 

realm in the surrounding locality by way of the improved connectivity to the 

surrounding town centre and attractive hard landscaping and planting scheme 

to enhance this riverside location. These elements would make a positive 

contribution to this element of the function of the townscape for both residents 

and visitors by way of these improvements, all of which would potentially 

encourage greater footfall and benefit the town centre in this way.  

6.56 The proposal is therefore considered to successfully overcome the reasons for 

refusal related to harm to character in the previous decisions. The more detailed 

design elements of the scheme are considered to be much improved, breaking 

up the mass of the building and creating interest in both roofscape and 

streetscape. The improvements to the design are therefore felt sufficient to 

overcome the harm resulting from the intended scale and height of building in 

this location. It is therefore considered that the proposal now accords with 

Policies CP24 of the TMBCS, SQ1 of the MDE DPD, TCA1(e) of the TCAAP, 

Chapter 12 of the NPPF requiring good design and the National Design Guide. 

 Housing and Affordable Housing 

6.57 Policy CP17 of the TMBC sets out the adopted policy position in respect of 

affordable housing provision for all new developments across the Borough. 

Chapter 5 of the NPPF addresses the need to deliver a sufficient supply of 

homes, including affordable housing. The requirements of CP17 are broadly 

consistent with the requirements of the NPPF in this respect. 

6.58 NPPF paragraph 61 states that the size, type and tenure of housing needed for 

different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning 

policies. The adopted development plan does not contain specific housing mix 

policies, although Core Strategy Policy CP1 states that provision will be made 

for housing to meet the needs of existing and future residents of the borough. 

6.59 The proposals will provide 118 residential units in a mix of unit sizes and types, 

including studio, 1 bed, 2 bed and 3 bed homes. 10% of the homes are 

designed to provide wheelchair user homes. 

Page 37



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

6.60 Policy CP24 of the Core Strategy requires all new developments to be of  high 

quality and be designed to sit well within the context. The proposals will deliver 

a high standard of residential accommodation and will meet or exceed relevant 

residential quality standards set by the ‘Technical Housing Standards – 

Nationally Described Standards’. 10% of the homes will provide wheelchair user 

homes complying with the Building Regulations Part M4(3). All other units will 

comply with Building Regulations Part M4(2). The wheelchair user homes are 

situated on a number of floors and different locations throughout the building in 

order to offer a range of options for future residents. 

6.61 Dual aspect layouts have been maximised wherever possible. There are no 

north-facing single-aspect units proposed. Furthermore, large floor to ceiling 

windows have been utilised in the main habitable rooms wherever practicable to 

optimise levels of light and residential quality. All main habitable spaces (living 

areas and bedrooms) will have a ceiling height that meets or exceeds the 

nationally described standard of 2500mm for at least 75% of the gross internal 

area. This ensures adequate quality of ventilation, light and sense of space. 

6.62 Overall the proposed dwelling mix is considered to be acceptable. 

6.63 With regard to affordable housing provision, Policy CP17 of the Core Strategy 

requires sites within Urban Areas to provide 40% affordable housing on sites of 

15 dwellings or more, or a site size 0.5ha or more. Supporting text confirms that 

this will be the starting point for negotiations on a site by site basis and is 

subject to viability considerations. 

6.64 The application is supported by a viability report that indicates that the site 

would not be able to provide policy compliant affordable housing.  The viability 

report has been reviewed by independent assessors and they concur with the 

position that the development is unlikely to be viable with any provision.  The 

applicants have however countered this and recognising the priority need for 

affordable housing within Tonbridge have therefore proposed to offer 20% 

affordable housing on a habitable room basis despite the viability challenges 

affecting the proposal.  Offering affordable housing even where there are 

viability challenges does not conflict with Policy CP17 of the Core Strategy and 

should be supported as a significant planning benefit associated with the 

development.   

6.65 To tackle the challenging economic circumstances currently affecting the site, 

the applicant is wishing to maintain flexibility by proposing either private sale or 

Build to Rent housing.  If the housing is delivered in the private sale tenure, the 

affordable tenure would be Shared Ownership. If the housing is delivered in the 

Build to Rent tenure, the affordable tenure would be Discount Market Rent.  

Whilst this is not a common approach to affordable housing delivery the 

applicants have provided examples of developments that have been assessed 

by Planning Inspectors and have been considered sound.  It is therefore 

Page 38



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

considered that the ability to seek affordable housing even with viability issues 

is welcomed and that the affordable housing tenure can be appropriately 

secured via a s106 agreement. 

6.66 Overall, whilst the development does not provide policy compliant affordable 

housing provision it is considered that the benefits of providing dwellings in a 

sustainable brownfield town centre location outweigh the under provision and in 

this instance is acceptable.   

 Parking provision and Highway safety 

6.67 Paragraph 114 of the NPPF states that in assessing sites that may be allocated 

for development in plans, or specific applications for development, it should be 

ensured that: 

 a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or 

have been – taken up, given the type of development and its location; 

 b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; 

 c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content 

of associated standards reflects current national guidance, including the 

National Design Guide and the National Model Design Code; and 

 d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in 

terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively 

mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

6.68 Paragraph 115 goes on to state that development should only be prevented or 

refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 

highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 

be severe. Paragraph 116 states that within this context, applications for 

development should: 

 a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme 

and with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating 

access to high quality public transport, with layouts that maximise the 

catchment area for bus or other public transport services, and appropriate 

facilities that encourage public transport use; 

 b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation 

to all modes of transport; 

 c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the scope 

for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary 

street clutter, and respond to local character and design standards; 

Page 39



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and 

emergency vehicles; and 

 e) be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission 

vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations. 

6.69 Finally, paragraph 117 sets out that all developments that will generate 

significant amounts of movement should be required to provide a travel plan, 

and the application should be supported by a transport statement or transport 

assessment so that the likely impacts of the proposal can be assessed. 

6.70 These requirements are broadly in conformity with policy CP2 of the TMBCS 

(sustainable travel), policy SQ8 of the MDE DPD and TCA12(1) of the TCAAP. 

6.71 The site is located within a sustainable location, just beyond the town centre 

boundary and within walking distance of Tonbridge High Street, train station and 

a number of bus routes. A number of pedestrian and cycle routes surround the 

site, with a public right of way in close proximity to the north west. 

6.72 The development proposes 37no. standard car parking spaces including 4no. 

disabled parking bays, equating to 10% of the total provision. The spaces will 

be provided on-site in garages, within the undercroft of the building and 

externally to the south of the building. All parking spaces will benefit from 

‘Active’ Electric Vehicle Charging Provision, in accordance with the recent 

updates to Approved Document S of the Building Regulations. 

6.73 The parking ratio for this scheme equates to 0.31 spaces per dwelling. Although 

this is below the maximum provision stipulated within KCC’s parking standards 

document, and as outlined above, the emerging proposals have been designed 

in accordance with the ‘Kent Design Guide Review: Interim Guidance Note 3’ 

which advises that residential flats should have a maximum parking ratio of one 

space per unit, however, in town centre locations, such as this Site, “reduced, or 

even nil provision is encouraged in support of demand management and the 

most efficient use of land”. Therefore it is considered the County Council 

indicate a clear view to reduce car usage and parking provision in town centre 

locations, and seek to encourage the use of sustainable transport modes. 

Furthermore, the previous application (LPA ref: 20/02554/FUL) proposed a 

parking ratio of 0.27 spaces per dwelling, which is significantly less than the 

permitted standards outlined above and this was not objected to by KCC. This 

low provision was justified through parking survey data, and this application has 

repeated these surveys in support of this planning application.   

6.74 The level of parking provision on site is constrained by the location within Flood 

Zone 3, which precludes any basement level parking as a possible option. The 

Highways Authority have confirmed that the level of parking proposed in this 

location is acceptable. The Kent Design Interim Guidance Note 3 advises 1 & 2 

bed flats in such a location should have a maximum provision of 1 space per flat 

Page 40



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

and visitor parking in nearby car parks. Proposed parking provision is therefore 

in compliance with these standards, as confirmed by the Highways Authority. 

The Borough Council has judged that the standards set out in IGN3 are out of 

date and therefore diminished weight should be afforded to them, instead with 

an emphasis to be placed on the site specific characteristics and credentials of 

the locality and individual schemes in assessing an appropriate level of parking 

provision. These aspects are further discussed below. 

6.75 The Highways Authority confirmed a high level of parking controls on 

surrounding streets in the form of double and single yellow lines. These existing 

parking restrictions and the supporting parking enforcement is considered 

sufficient to prevent residents or visitors using on street parking for long stay 

purposes, and therefore preventing hazard to road users. As such a highway 

based objection to the current scheme is not considered to be sustainable. 

6.76 It is noted there is a significant amount of neighbour objection on the grounds of 

the existing parking problems and the fact that this would, in their view, be 

exacerbated to dangerous levels by the proposal. The Highways Authority have 

however confirmed that the publicly maintained highway extends only as far as 

Medway Wharf Road. Remaining areas within the vicinity used for residents 

parking does not fall within their control and is the management responsibility of 

the leaseholders/management companies for these sites. 

6.77 In order to further reduce the potential for car ownership as part of the 

development the applicants have provided a framework residential travel plan 

that sets out how they would seek to reduce travel by the private motor vehicle 

and encourage travel by alternative, more sustainable modes. Examples of 

methods proposed include provision of a travel pack for residents, site specific 

travel website, provision of secure cycle parking and the provision of a 

dedicated car club space to discourage car ownership. 

6.78 It is proposed to secure the travel plan for a 5-year period, with baseline 

surveys undertaken 9 months post occupation and targets for reductions based 

upon existing travel patterns. To ensure the success of the proposed car club 

scheme appropriate financial contributions to secure 1 vehicle for the life of the 

travel plan and membership for all residents for a minimum period of 1 year 

should be secured.  The travel plan and car club provision can be controlled by 

planning condition and S106 legal agreement. 

6.79 Kent parking standards set out the minimum cycle parking standards for flats 

and maisonettes at one space per unit.  The proposal will provide 118 cycle 

parking spaces which equates to 1 space per unit, as per the standards set out 

above. 10 of these spaces are to be provided as oversize cycle spaces (8% of 

the total), to allow for accessible cycles to use the cycle storage areas. 4no 

Electric Bicycle Charging spaces are also proposed, which is considered 

appropriate for the size of the development. As such, the proposed level of 

Page 41



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

cycle spaces is compliant with Policy CP2 of the Core Strategy which 

encourages the promotion of sustainable travel modes such as walking, cycling 

and the use of public transport.  

6.80 The existing access will be used for vehicles, whilst pedestrians and cyclists will 

have the additional option of using the existing footbridge. It is accepted that the 

new footpath link between this bridge and Medway Wharf Road will improve 

links with the town centre and increase permeability in this part of Tonbridge for 

future residents and existing users from a wider area.  The access 

arrangements are considered to be acceptable. 

6.81 In terms of traffic generation, the tests carried out by the applicant and then 

confirmed by the Highways Authority conclude that the proposed use is 

anticipated to generate less traffic that the extant use, in line with the overall 

conclusions of the Transport Assessment.  The results conclude that the 

proposed development is anticipated to generate 34 and 37 two-way vehicular 

trips in the AM and PM peak, respectively. The conclusions also show that the 

net reductions in vehicular trips in both the AM and PM Peak that are predicted 

to occur as a result of the development will result in significant improvements 

with regards to the operation of the local highway network when compared to 

the extant 2011 Permission. 

6.82 With regards to servicing, the proposed development is predicted to generate 2 

two-way servicing trip rates in the AM and PM peak respectively, and it is 

concluded that the minimal servicing movements will have a negligible impact 

on the local highway network. 

6.83 In conclusion it is considered that the site offers accessibility by a choice of 

transport modes, being located within an area where there are good rail and 

bus connections, as well as being within walking and easy cycling distance of 

Tonbridge Town Centre. The existing access off Medway Wharf Road is 

considered appropriate to provide vehicular access that is safe and suitable to 

accommodate the proposed development.  The proposed development would 

provide an appropriate level of car and cycle provision and the proposed layout 

incorporates good permeability for pedestrians and cyclists to and from 

Tonbridge Town Centre. The development proposals therefore accord with 

Policy CP2 and the National Planning Policy Framework and there are no 

highway or transportation reasons to preclude the development as proposed. 

 Residential Amenity 

6.84 Consideration of the impact upon sunlight/daylight levels is important for both 

existing residents and future occupants.  Paragraph 129 of the NPPF balances 

the need to make efficient use of land and achieving acceptable living standards 

with regards to daylight and sunlight.  A flexible approach is advised in applying 

policies or guidance on this matter, provided that this does not of course lead to 

unacceptable living standards. 

Page 42



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

6.85 As a result of the proximity of Waterway House to the north and Ashbys Point to 

the east a detailed sunlight/daylight assessment has been undertaken in 

accordance with the Building Research Establishment ‘Site layout planning for 

daylight and sunlight – a guide to good practice’.   

6.86 The study uses the baseline position of the extant consent and compares this to 

the proposed development.  The results of the assessment demonstrate that at 

both Ashbys Point and Waterway House, whilst not all windows adhere to the 

numerical recommendations within the BRE Guidance, when compared to the 

already consented scheme, the impact is neutral and therefore, the impacts are 

within the parameters of acceptability. Consequently, the impact on daylight, 

sunlight and overshadowing should not be considered a constraint upon the 

development of this site. 

6.87 Whilst each proposal is assessed on its own planning merits the comparison of 

impacts between the approved and proposed scheme is a relevant 

consideration. It should also be noted that the previous applications have not 

been refused on the grounds of harm to amenity, and these were much larger 

developments with more. 

6.88 Taking account of the above conclusions I am therefore satisfied that any 

additional impacts on sunlight and daylight to neighbouring properties compared 

to the extant scheme, would be neutral. Similarly, I do not consider that the 

proposed development would present significant differences to that of the extant 

approved scheme that would give rise to an unacceptable level of overlooking 

and loss of privacy of neighbouring properties. The resulting relationship 

between existing and proposed buildings would not be unusual within an urban 

setting such as this, albeit different to the current more open setting.  The 

development is therefore considered to accord with the requirements of Policy 

CP1 and paragraph 129 of the NPPF. 

6.89 With regard to the impact of noise and air quality on the proposal, the site has 

been subject to scrutiny due to the proximity of the Tannery Road Industrial 

Estate.  In this case the Agent of Change principle is relevant due to the 

presence of this nearby industrial use.  The Agent of change principle is 

referred to in paragraph 195 of the NPPF which confirms a requirement for new 

developments to be compatible with any existing businesses and community 

facilities in the surrounding area.  The ‘Agent of Change Principle’ aims to 

protect existing uses such as these and avoid any new permission resulting in 

unreasonable restrictions being imposed upon them.  A full noise assessment 

has therefore been undertaken which has concluded that any impact on the 

proposed development can be successfully mitigated by treatments of the units 

themselves.  This can be controlled by planning condition.  On this basis it is not 

considered that the residential use would impact on or be adversely affected by 

the surrounding uses. 

Page 43



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

6.90 Similarly it is not considered that there are any air quality or odour issues in the 

area which would require mitigation.  As such the proposal complies with 

paragraph 192 which requires planning decisions to sustain and contribute 

towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for 

pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas 

and Clean Air Zones. 

 Landscaping, trees and open space provision 

6.91 Policy CP24 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure proposals deliver a high 

quality development which includes development which seeks to enhance its 

existing open spaces.  Paragraph 136 of the NPPF also notes that trees make 

an important contribution to the character and quality of urban environments. 

Hard and soft landscaping are proposed with the aim of complementing both 

the development and the wider townscape, creating biodiversity and 

accessibility benefits. This would include a new footpath link from Medway 

Wharf Road through to the existing footbridge which spans the Gas Works 

Stream to the south of the site. 

6.92 The hard landscaping strategy involves the introduction of paving for the public 

realm areas. Furniture such as benches and sunlounges are also proposed to 

be distributed around the development. A number of informal play features are 

also proposed to provide door-step play space for younger children. 

6.93 The soft landscaping strategy involves the introduction of green walls, green 

screens, flower-rich perennial planting and extensive green roofs. As part of the 

soft landscaping strategy, the scheme will remove 3no. low quality existing trees 

from the site which are located along Medway Wharf Road, and replace these 

with 16no. new trees across the development. 

6.94 As part of the development two communal rooftop terrace areas are proposed.  

at sixth floor level, there is a communal roof terrace which is divided into a 

series of outdoor rooms for varying purposes, including sunbathing, outdoor 

dining and relaxing.  Informal play opportunities for young children, with 

adjacent bench seating for adults are proposed with a mix of planting proposed.  

At the seventh floor a larger communal roof terrace is proposed along similar 

lines to that proposed on the floor below. 

6.95 Whilst the provision of these open communal areas are appreciated the 

development would result in a shortfall of open space provision in line with 

adopted policy OS3 requirements.  In order to address these the applicants 

have agreed to provide a contribution of £208,432 to enhance existing off site 

open spaces. 

6.96 The landscaping and open space provision is therefore considered to be 

acceptable. 

Page 44



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 Contamination 

6.97 In accordance with paragraph 190 of the NPPF which requires contaminated 

sites to be rendered safe for redevelopment by the developers, proposals for 

remediation are a key part of this application.  The application is supported by a 

comprehensive site investigation desk top study and site walkover. The findings 

did find the presence of potential sources of contamination which will require 

further investigation. The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer has 

therefore requested conditions to require further investigations, should 

permission be granted. 

 Ecology and Biodiversity net gain. 

6.98 Policy NE3 of the Management Development and the Environment 

Development Plan requires development that would adversely affect 

biodiversity to only be permitted should appropriate mitigation and/or 

comprehensive measures be provided within the scheme. The policy goes on to 

add that development proposals must make provision for the retention of the 

habitat and protection of its wildlife links, whilst taking opportunities to maximise 

the creation of new corridors and improve permeability and ecological 

conservation value where possible. 

6.99 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted which confirms that the 

site is dominated by hardstanding that forms a car park that provide limited 

opportunity for biodiversity. The woodland strip in the south of the site is in 

moderate condition and offers opportunity for breeding birds and bats. The 

scrub in the north of the Site in poor ecological condition and provides limited 

opportunity for biodiversity, however it is possible that breeding birds and 

invertebrates will utilise this habitat. Overall, the site has limited biodiversity 

value. 

6.100 The desk study returned five Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) within the Zone of 

Influence (ZoI), however there is limited to no ecological connectivity between 

these areas and the site so it is concluded that the development will not impact 

on these LWS. 

6.101 The desk study also returned a wide range of records of protected and notable 

species within the Zone of Influence of the site, however the Extended Phase 1 

Habitat Survey found little opportunity for most of these on site, with the 

woodland strip and scrub providing the only opportunities for biodiversity on 

site. 

6.102 The woodland strip is being retained as part of the development, and measures 

are proposed to ensure that light pollution does not negatively impact this 

habitat. 

Page 45



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

6.103 A Biodiversity Net Gain calculation has been carried out using the Biodiversity 

Metric 3.1 tool in order to assess the area’s baseline value to biodiversity and to 

compare this then to the post-development value of the same site. The existing 

site’s calculation results show that the habitat units on site have a BNG value of 

0.12 and the hedgerow units 0.00. Whereas post-development the habitat units 

show a value of 0.59 and the hedgerow units 0.03. This shows that the total net 

unit change for habitat units is 0.47 and the hedgerow units is 0.03. The overall 

increase in habitat units is attained primarily through new urban tree planting 

and the creation of areas of native planting and green roofs. The increase in 

hedgerow units is attained through the creation of a section of native hedgerow. 

The submitted information indicates that the development will achieve a 

biodiversity net gain of 393% for habitat units, and 100% for hedgerow units, 

this significantly exceeding the future legislative requirement for 10% net gain. 

6.104 As such, it is considered that the development proposals accord with Local 

Policy, particularly Policy NE3 and the NPPF. 

 Fire safety 

6.105 Measures to ensure the consideration of fire safety matters as they relate to 

land use planning at the planning stage for schemes involving high rise 

residential buildings were brought into effect in the Building Safety Bill. The 

Health and Safety Executive is the Building Safety Regulator for this 

development due to the height of the building being a ‘Higher Risk Building’ 

(HRBs) as defined in the Building Safety Bill, which would be more than 7 

storeys in height.  

6.106 A Fire Strategy Statement and Gateway One Statement have been prepared 

and are submitted alongside this planning application. A number of fire 

precautions have been designed into the scheme to ensure the scheme is 

providing safe long-term residential accommodation.  Following a review of the 

information provided in the planning application the HSE is satisfied with the fire 

safety design to the extent that it affects land use planning. Similarly, the Fire 

and Rescue service are satisfied that the off-site access requirements that they 

have, have been met by the proposal.  

 Archaeology 

6.107 The site of the application lies south of the historic core of Tonbridge and within 

the river valley base. Until the 19th century this area was mainly open land, 

probably seasonally flood or meadow land or hinterland activities. In the late 

19th century it developed as industrial space for gasworks. 

6.108 There is in addition some potential for Palaeolithic remains and palaeo-

environmental remains due to the location of the scheme being on river terrace 

gravels and alluvial deposits. 

Page 46



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

6.109 With regard to buried archaeology, the proposed development may have an 

impact on Early Prehistoric remains, and buried 19th century industrial remains.  

On this basis it is considered that the site should be subject to further study in 

relation to both archaeological field evaluation and geo-archaeological 

investigation.  These can be sought by condition.  

 Planning Obligations 

6.110 Policy CP25 of the Core Strategy requires new development to “incorporate the 

infrastructure required as a result of the scheme or make provision for financial 

contributions and/or land to secure such infrastructure or service position at the 

time it is needed, by means of conditions or a planning obligation”.   

6.111 Planning obligations assist in mitigating the impact of unacceptable 

development to make it acceptable in planning terms. Planning obligations may 

only constitute a reason for granting planning permission if they meet the tests 

as set out in paragraph 122 of the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended).  These 

state that obligations must be : 

 1.necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

 2. directly related to the development; and 

 3. fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 The requested obligations are as follows :- 

6.112 Open space contribution of £208,432. With contributions towards Parks & 

Gardens at Haysden Country Park, Tonbridge Castle and Memorial Gardens; 

Outdoor Sports Facilities at Tonbridge Racecourse Sportsground; Children’s 

and Young People’s Play Areas at Tonbridge Racecourse Sportsground and 

Natural and Semi Natural Green Spaces at the area opposite Tonbridge 

Moorings. 

6.113 The on-site provision of affordable housing as detailed previously, being the on-

site provision of 20 percent affordable housing with a tenure of either a shared 

ownership or discounted market rent tenure. 

6.114 KCC Highways consider the following should be secured via S106/legal 

agreement: 

 A financial contribution towards a new controlled crossing facility on 

Cannon Lane 

 Car club scheme, with minimum membership of 1 year for all residents 

6.115 Kent and Medway CCG submitted their requests for contributions associated 

with the proposed development. This proposal will generate approximately 188 

Page 47



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

new patient registrations in an area of currently limited capacity. A contribution 

would be required to meet this need through the creation of extra capacity in 

exiting general practice premises. The figure requested is £67,752. The CCG 

contribution would again be secured as part of a section 106 agreement were 

permission to be granted. 

6.116 In line with the provisions of CIL Regulation 122, the County Council has also 

requested financial contributions to mitigate the impacts that the proposal would 

have upon its services. The contribution amounts are broken down as follows: 

 Primary Education : £56,864.50 

 Secondary Education : £55,615.00 

 Community Learning : £1,937.56 

 Youth Service : £7,729.00 

 Library Bookstock : £6,543.10 

 Social Care : £17,331.84 

 Waste : £21,673.06 

6.117 The agreed contributions requests when assessed against the tests set out in 

paragraph 122 are considered to meet the tests and will be secured by way of 

the S106 agreement. 

 Planning Balance and overall conclusions 

6.118 Due to the Council’s lack of a 5 year housing land supply the tilted balance is 

engaged in this case.  As the site is affected by both heritage and flooding 

constraints the proposal is assessed against paragraph 11 d (i) of the NPPF, 

the conclusion being that the impact of the proposed development to both 

heritage assets and the risk of flooding would not cause a level of harm that 

would provide a clear reason to refuse the proposal. 

6.119 Following this it is necessary to apply consideration under paragraph 11 d (ii) of 

the NPPF, and whether any potential adverse impacts significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal when assessed against the 

rest of the NPPF policies. 

6.120 The development provides a level of affordable housing on-site that whilst not 

fully policy compliant is considered appropriate given the viability issues 

surrounding the development.  An appropriate living environment for both 

proposed and existing residents will result from the development and the 

scheme has the significant benefit of providing much needed housing in a 

sustainable urban location utilising an area of brownfield land.  This, combined 

Page 48



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

with the improvements to the connectivity of the area to the existing river 

crossing are considered to be a substantial benefit when viewed against the 

less than substantial harm to the significance of the setting of the designated 

heritage asset of Tonbridge Castle in accordance with paragraph 208 of the 

NPPF.   

6.121 There are no outstanding objections from statutory consultees. 

6.122 Taking these considerations into account, the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development, and having assessed the proposal in light of 

paragraph 11d (i) and (ii), it is the officers view that on balance the proposal 

accords with adopted local and national planning policy. 

6.123 It is therefore recommended to grant the proposal subject to S106 requirements 

and the necessary conditions. 

7. Recommendation: 

7.1 Grant Planning Permission, subject to: 

 The applicant entering into a S106 agreement to make financial 

contributions and securing affordable housing provision; and   

 The following conditions:  

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 

Reason: in pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

2 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following plans and documents: 

Planning Statement and Planning Supplementary Note 

Design and Access Statement 

Air Quality Assessment 

Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment 

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing Assessment 

Statement of Community Involvement 

Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 

Flood Risk Sequential Assessment and Exceptions Test 

Heritage, Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment (‘HTVIA’) 

Landscape Strategy  

Transport Assessment 

Residential Travel Plan 

Tree Survey and Arboricultural Statement 

Acoustics Report (Rev. 2) 

Page 49



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

Acoustic Mitigation Note 

Energy and Sustainability Strategy 

Planning Fire Strategy Statement 

Gateway One Statement 

Viability Response  

Overheating Assessment 

Site Location Plan (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 001) 

Existing Site Layout Plan (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 002) 

Ground Floor Plan (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 100) 

First Floor Plan (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 101) 

Typical Floor Plan- 2nd to 4th Floors (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 102) 

Fifth Floor Plan (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 105) 

Sixth Floor Plan (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 106) 

Seventh Floor Plan (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 107) 

Eight Floor Plan (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 108) 

Attic Plant Floor Plan (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 109) 

Roof Plan (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 113) 

Accessible Layout Type 1 (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 150) 

Accessible Layout Type 2 (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 151) 

Accessible Layout Type 3 (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 152) 

Accessible Layout Type 4 (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 153) 

Accessible Layout Type 5 (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 154) 

GA Elevations SE & NW (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 200) 

GA Elevations NE & SW (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 201) 

Sectional Elevations D-D, E-E, F-F, G-G (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 202) 

Contextual Elevations SE & NW (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 210) 

Contextual Elevations NE & SW (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 210) 

Sections A-A,B-B,C-C (Drawing Ref No. 1581 PL 300) 

 

Reason: To ensure that the development is undertaken in accordance with the 

approved drawings and documents. 

3 No development, other than the demolition of any buildings, removal of 

hardstanding, ground investigations or site survey works, shall take place until 

details of materials to be used externally have been submitted to and approved by 

the Local Planning Authority, and the development shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details. 

 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. 

4 No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The CMP 

shall incorporate details of: 

a) Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to / from the site; 

Page 50



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

b) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site 

personnel; 

c) Timing of deliveries; 

d) Provision of wheel washing facilities; and 

e) Temporary traffic management / signage. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.   

5 The vehicle parking spaces and / or garages shown on drawing no. 1581 PL 100 

shall be provided prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved and 

shall be kept available for such use thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure that adequate parking is provided, and maintained and 

retained. 

6 The vehicle loading / unloading and turning facilities shown on drawing no. 1581 

PL 100 shall be provided prior to first occupation of the development hereby 

approved and shall be permanently retained for such use thereafter. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.   

7 The access shown on drawing no. 8582/204 shall be provided prior to first 

occupation of the development hereby approved and shall be permanently 

retained and maintained for such use thereafter. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.   

8 The secure cycle storage shown on drawing no. 1581 PL 100 shall be provided 

prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved and shall be kept 

available for such use thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure that cycle bays are provided and maintained in accordance 

 with the Council's adopted standards. 

9 The visibility splays shown on drawing no. 8582/204 shall be provided prior to first 

occupation of the development hereby approved and shall be permanently 

retained and maintained thereafter.  The visibility splays shall ensure no 

obstructions over 0.6 metres above the carriageway level within the splays. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.   

10 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, 2 metres x 2 metres 

pedestrian visibility splays behind the footway on both sides of the access shall be 

provided and shall be permanently retained and maintained thereafter.  The 

Page 51



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

visibility splays shall ensure no obstructions over 0.6 metres above the footway 

level within the splays. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.   

11 No development (except for site clearance) shall begin until a detailed sustainable 

surface water drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority and the development shall be implemented 

in accordance with the approved scheme.   

The scheme shall: 

 Specify the responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the scheme. 

 Specify a timetable for implementation. 

 Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the 

development, including arrangements for adoption by any public authority or 

statutory undertaker, and any other arrangements to secure the operation of 

the scheme throughout its lifetime. 

Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for 

the disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not 

exacerbate the risk of on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying 

calculations are required prior to the commencement of the development as they 

form an intrinsic part of the proposal, the approval of which cannot be 

disaggregated from the carrying out of the rest of the development. 

12 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, a Verification Report 

pertaining to the sustainable surface water drainage system and prepared by a 

suitably competent person shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority. 

Reason: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the 

land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those risks to controlled 

waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as 

constructed is compliant with and subsequently maintained pursuant to the 

requirements of paragraph 165 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

13 Prior to above ground works, details of the proposed means of foul sewerage and 

surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

planning authority and the development shall be implemented in accordance with 

the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the 

land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 

Page 52



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as 

constructed is compliant with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

14 No development shall commence until the following details have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority: 

a) contaminated land desktop study identifying all previous site uses, potential 

contaminants associated with those uses including a survey of the condition of any 

existing building(s), a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways 

and receptors and any potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at 

the site; 

b) based on the findings of the desktop study, proposals for a site investigation 

scheme that will provide information for an assessment of the risk to all receptors 

that may be affected including those off site. The site investigation scheme should 

also include details of any site clearance, ground investigations or site survey work 

that may be required to allow for intrusive investigations to be undertaken. 

If, in seeking to comply with the terms of this condition, reliance is made on studies 

or assessments prepared as part of the substantive application for planning 

permission, these documents should be clearly identified and cross-referenced in 

the submission of the details pursuant to this condition. 

Reason: In the interests of amenity, public safety and human health and in 

accordance with paragraph 180 of the NPPF 

15 No development shall commence, other than as required as part of any relevant 

approved site investigation works, until the following details have been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

a) Results of the site investigations (including any necessary intrusive 

investigations) and a risk assessment of the degree and nature of any 

contamination on site and the impact on human health, controlled waters 

and the wider environment. These results shall include a detailed 

remediation method statement informed by the site investigation results 

and associated risk assessment, which details how the site will be made 

suitable for its approved end use through removal or mitigation measures. 

The method statement must include details of all works to be undertaken, 

proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria, timetable of works 

and site management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site 

cannot be determined as Contaminated Land as defined under Part 2A of 

the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (or as otherwise amended).  

The submitted scheme shall include details of arrangements for 

responding to any discovery of unforeseen contamination during the 

undertaking hereby permitted. Such arrangements shall include a 

requirement to notify the local planning authority in writing of the presence 

Page 53



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

of any such unforeseen contamination along with a timetable of works to 

be undertaken to make the site suitable for its approved end use.  

b)  Prior to the commencement of the development the relevant approved 

remediation scheme shall be carried out as approved. The local planning 

authority shall be given a minimum of two weeks written notification of the 

commencement of the remediation scheme works. 

Reason: In the interests of amenity, public safety and human health and in 

accordance with paragraph 180 of NPPF. 

16 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, a relevant 

Verification Report that demonstrates the effectiveness and completion of the 

remediation scheme at above and below ground level shall be submitted for the 

information of the local planning authority. 

The Verification Report shall be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the 

Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 

Contamination, CLR 11’. Where it is identified that further remediation works are 

necessary, details and a timetable of those works shall be submitted to the local 

planning authority for written approval and shall be fully implemented as approved.  

Thereafter, no works shall take place such as to prejudice the effectiveness of the 

approved scheme of remediation. 

Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or 

the water environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved 

verification plan have been met and that remediation of the site is complete. This 

is in line with the NPPF. 

17 No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than 

with the written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 

unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 

pollution caused by mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 180 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework. 

18 Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be 

permitted other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning 

Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been 

demonstrated by a piling risk assessment that there is no resultant unacceptable 

risk to groundwater. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details. 

Page 54



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

Reason To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 

unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 

pollution caused by mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 180 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework. 

19 Prior to the commencement of development the applicant, or their agents or 

successors in title, will secure and implement:  

i. archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 

written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 

Authority; and  

ii. further archaeological investigation, recording and reporting, determined 

by the results of the evaluation, in accordance with a specification and timetable 

which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority;  

iii. programme of post excavation assessment and publication. 

Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined, 

recorded, reported and disseminated. 

20 Prior to the commencement of development the applicant, or their agents or 

successors in title, will secure and implement:  

i. geo-archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 

written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 

Authority; and  

ii. further geo-archaeological investigation, recording and reporting, 

determined by the results of the evaluation, in accordance with a specification and 

timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 

Authority;  

iii. programme of post excavation assessment and publication. 

Reason: To ensure that features of geo-archaeological interest are properly 

 examined, recorded, reported and disseminated 

21 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of a phased 

occupation which aligns with the delivery by Southern Water of any sewerage 

network reinforcement required to ensure adequate wastewater network capacity 

is available to adequately drain the development, shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of new residents and those of 

surrounding properties and to ensure that the development does not have a 

detrimental impact upon the existing sewerage network. 

Page 55



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

22 For dwellings affected by noise from the adjacent industrial Unit 12, no occupation 

shall take place until details of noise insulation / attenuation requirements (e.g. 

glazing, façade build up, appropriate ventilation) have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority having regard to the operations 

from Unit 12 as provided in ‘Planning Application Report – Acoustics’ prepared by 

MZA Acoustics (Rev 02 dated 1st November 2023). The proposed noise insulation 

/ attenuation requirements should consider the following internal noise targets 

applicable at any time of the day or night and in any habitable room (living room, 

bedroom) when windows are closed: 

 35 dB LAfmax from external operational noise (such as loading/unloading of 

goods)  

 NR25 from noise emitted by extract fans on the exterior of the building.  

The residential units shall not be occupied until the approved measures have been 

implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of occupiers of the proposed dwelling hereby 

approved, from the noise impacts from the neighbouring industrial unit (unit 12 

Tannery Road Industrial Estate) 

23 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the measures set out in 

the conclusion of the submitted flood risk assessment 8582 produced by Cole 

Easdon. 

These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 

subsequently in accordance with the scheme’s timing/phasing arrangements. The 

measures detailed above shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout 

the lifetime of the development.    

24 Reason:  To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 

occupants and to prevent flooding elsewhere by ensuring that compensatory 

storage of flood water is provided. The development hereby approved shall be 

carried out in such a manner that all trees are protected in accordance with the 

recommendations within BS 5837 – Trees in relation to design, demolition and 

construction. 

Reason: In the interests of good horticultural practice. 

25 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved a scheme of hard 

and soft landscaping and boundary treatment shall be submitted to and approved 

by the Local Planning authority.  The landscaping details shall accord with the 

approved Landscape Strategy 13592A-30-R03-01. All planting, seeding and 

turfing comprised in the approved scheme of landscaping shall be implemented 

during the first planting season following occupation of the buildings or the 

completion of the development, whichever is the earlier.  Any trees or shrubs 

Page 56



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

removed, dying, being seriously damaged or diseased within 10 years of planting 

shall be replaced in the next planting season with trees or shrubs of similar size 

and species.  Any boundary fences or walls or similar structures as may be 

approved shall be erected before first occupation of the building to which they 

relate.   

Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity. 

 

 
 
 

Contact: Robin Gilbert 

 
  

Page 57



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

Appendix 1 – KCC Highways comments 
 

  

Page 58



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 59



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 60



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 61



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 62



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 63



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 64



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 65



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 66



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 
  

Page 67



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

Appendix 2: KCC LLFA comments 
 

 

Page 68



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 69



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 
  

Page 70



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

Appendix 3: Environment Agency comments 
 

 
 

Page 71



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 72



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

Our ref:   KT/2022/130335/02-L01 
Your ref:  22/02694/FL 
 
Date:    27 March 2023 
 
Dear Alice 
 
Erection of a 9 storey building comprising of 118 residential units, together with associated car  
and cycle parking, landscaping and associated works 
 
Formerly River Centre Car Park Medway Wharf Road Tonbridge Kent 
 
Thank you for the Technical Note 8582/02 dated February 2023. 
 
Section 2.1 of the Note confirms the proposed substation will be set on a raised plinth above a  
level of 22.79mAOD, as confirmed on General Arrangement Section AA, DWG 1581 PL 300 A. We 
are  
therefore pleased to remove the objection to this aspect of the application. 
 
However, whilst we are satisfied all dwellings will be located above flood level and essential  
utilities can remain operational during flood conditions, residents will be isolated when this need  
not be the case if minor amendments to the design are made. 
 
It is correct that future occupants of planning application TM/21/02298/FL will not have safe  
access under flood conditions but for that site, it is not feasible to provide such access. 
The difference with the River Centre Car Park proposal is that it is feasible to provide access  
from the development to an area south of the Gasworks Stream that is currently within Flood Zone 2. 
 
Admittedly, this area is surrounded by Flood Zone 3 and so completely dry access is unlikely to be  
achievable from here to the wider community during the 100Yr +35% design event but, as stated in  
our letter of 6 January 2023, safe access would be achievable during during the present day 100Yr  
event, whilst the site itself and Medway Wharf Road would be flooded. 
 
Para 047 of the NPPF flood risk technical guidance states. “Wherever possible, safe access routes  
should be provided that are located above design flood levels and which avoid flow paths. Where 
this is not possible, limited depths of flooding may be acceptable,  
provided that the proposed access is designed with appropriate signage etc. to make it safe.” 
Whilst it is for the local authority to consider whether the Flood Warning & Evacuation Plan is  
acceptable, we reiterate that minor changes to the development could provide raised pedestrian  
access to the footbridge over the Gasworks Stream. 
 
This will provide significantly improved access arrangements than those currently described in  
section 3c of the Flood Risk Assessment. Such modifications would also be in accordance with the  
aspirations of the local authority when pre-planning discussions were first held with the developer  
of Ashbys Yard. 
 
In summary, the local authority should consider whether the proposal in the current format should  
pass the Exception Test when it is known that arrangements for safe access could be considerably  
improved during flood conditions. 
If you require any further information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
Yours sincerely 
 
Mrs Michelle Waterman-Gay Planning Advisor 
e-mail kslplanning@environment-agency.gov.uk 
  

Page 74

mailto:kslplanning@environment-agency.gov.uk


Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

Appendix 4: Historic England comments. 
 

 

Page 75



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 76



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 77



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 78



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 79



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 
  

Page 80



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

Appendix 5: NHS Primary Care comments 
 

 

Page 81



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 82



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 
  

Page 83



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

Appendix 6: KCC Economic Development comments. 
 

 

Page 84



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 
 

Page 85



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 86



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 87



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 88



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 
  

Page 89



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

Appendix 7: Southern Water comments. 
 

 

Page 90



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 91



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 

Page 92



Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

Planning committee area 1    
Planning appeal decisions for area 1 
  
TMBC ref: 23/01045/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/D/23/3331466 
Site Address:19 Hartfield Close Tonbridge 
Description of Development: Addition of first floor, two storey extensions to front and 
rear elevations with dormer windows to front and rear roof slopes 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed  05.02.24 
Appeal Decision  
Costs awarded:  N/A 
 
 
TMBC ref: 22/02870/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/D/23/3320673 
Site Address: Thompsons Oast Hartlake Road Tonbridge TN11 0BL 
Description of Development: New roof and alterations to existing garage to provide 
guest accommodation and gym 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed  20.02.24 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A 
 
 
TMBC ref:  22/02623/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/W/23/3319018 
Site Address: 44 Hopgarden Road Tonbridge TN10 4QT 
Description of Development: Section 73 application to vary condition 1 of planning 
application TM/22/02327/NMA (Non Material Amendment to planning permission 
TM/21/01950/FL to impose a new condition worded thus: The development hereby 
permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 
details: 6957/1/B received 12.07.2021, 6957/EX received 12.07.2021, 6957/LBP 
received 12.07.2021, Statement received 12.07.2021) 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Allowed 16.02.24 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A 
 
 
TMBC ref: 22/02574/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/W/23/3318490 
Site Address: 16 The Ridgeway Tonbridge TM10 4NH 
Description of Development: Erection of a single dormer dwelling to rear of 16 The 
Ridgeway with associated parking and amenity area 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed  02.11.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95

Agenda Item 7

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3331466
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3320673
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3319018
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3318490


Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

TMBC ref: 22/02358/FL  
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/D/23/3314875 
Site Address: 2 Albion Close Hadlow TN11 0DR 
Description of Development: Retrospective application for a single storey rear extension 
and roof terrace 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Allowed 19.06.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  Y 
Costs Decision 
 
 
 
TMBC ref: 22/02205/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/D/23/3315221 
Site Address: Ryecroft 2 The Drive Tonbridge TN9 2LP 
Description of Development: Loft conversion with mansard roof, roof light windows to 
front and rear, side dormer windows, alterations to rear elevation and associated 
internal alterations 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed  24.03.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A 
 
 
TMBC ref: 22/01946/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/D/23/3314735 
Site Address: 40 Riding Lane Hildenborough TN11 9HY 
Description of Development: Proposal to replace dying hedgerow and trellis fence along 
side boundary of property with a new closed boarded fence, matching other existing 
fencing at the property and providing privacy to the back garden 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed 20.06.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A 
 
 
TMBC ref: 22/01908/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/D/22/3312999 
Site Address: 19 Hartfield Close Tonbridge TN10 4JP 
Description of Development: Alterations to garage roof, addition of a first floor to main 
dwelling, two storey extensions to front elevation with dormer and skylight windows to 
front and rear roof slopes 
Appeal Outcome: Split Decision 24.03.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3314875
https://planning.agileapplications.co.uk/tmbc/application-details/2601
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3315221
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3314735
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3312999


Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 
TMBC ref: 22/01459/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/W/23/3318610 
Site Address: Land West of The Stable Barn Stocks Green Road Hildenborough 
Description of Development: Rebuild of a former Smock Mill for use as a holiday let and 
erection of 3 dwellings (proposed enabling scheme) 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed 16.11.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A 
 
 
 
TMBC ref: 22/01008/LB 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/Y/22/3313388 
Site Address: 17 London Road Tonbridge TN10 3AB 
Description of Development: Listed Building Application: Replacement of two front doors 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed 05.10.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A 
 
 
 
TMBC ref: 22/00913/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/D/22/3310384 
Site Address: 62A Priory Road Tonbridge TN9 2BL 
Description of Development: Vertical extensions to an existing dwelling house 
comprising an additional storey to the existing two-storey element and two storeys to 
part of the single storey element. Materials and finishes to extensions are proposed to 
match the existing 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Allowed 24.03.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A 
 
 
TMBC ref: 22/00824/FL & 22/00825/LB 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/W/22/3302252 & APP/H2265/Y/22/3302250 
Site Address: Bells Farm 501 Bells Farm Road Hadlow TN11 0JR 
Description of Development: Demolition of existing pole barn and erection of a detached 
garage with first floor studio to be used ancillary to main dwelling 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed 17.04.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3318610
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3313388
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3310384
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3302252


Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 
TMBC ref: 22/00681/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/W/22/3308696 
Site Address: Land rear of 7 & 9 Vale Rise Tonbridge 
Description of Development: Erection of single storey domestic dwelling and associated 
parking, including a new drop kerb 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Allowed 04.07.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A 
 
 
TMBC ref: 21/03364/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/D/22/3303924 
Site Address: Little Egypt Park Road Hadlow TN11 9SR 
Description of Development: Existing dilapidated garage and shed to be demolished 
and replaced with new oak framed annexe (Revision to TM/21/02627/FL) 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed 31.08.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A  
 
 
TMBC ref: 21/02588/LDP 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/X/22/3290704 
Site Address: The Shooting Lodge Shipbourne Road Hadlow TN11 9NS 
Description of Development: Lawful Development Certificate Proposed: Erection of 
detached garage and annex 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Withdrawn 04.10.23 
 
 
TMBC ref: 21/02574/TPOC 
PINs Ref: APP/TPO/H2265/9274 
Site Address: Lavender Cottage 11 Hildenbrook Farm Hildenborough TN11 9JN 
Description of Development: Works to fell an Oak tree in front garden 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed 24.05.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded: N/A  
 
 
TMBC ref: 21/02482/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/W/22/3292544 
Site Address: 5 Baltic Road Tonbridge TN9 2NB 
Description of Development: Erection of a single storey extension to the roof of the 
building to provide 3 no. self-contained flats (Dwellinghouses Class C3) with associated 
external alterations, cycle parking, refuse storage and ancillary works 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed 19.04.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded: N/A 
 
 
 
  

Page 98

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3308696
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3303924
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3290704
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3292544


Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public   
 

 
TMBC ref: 21/01718/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/W/23/3316969 
Site Address: Alans Hectare Cemetery Lane Hadlow TN11 0LT 
Description of Development: Variation of condition 2 (limited period of time) pursuant to 
planning permission TM/14/02816/FL (Change of use of land to a private gypsy and 
traveller caravan site consisting of 2no. pitches) 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Allowed 20.09.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A  
 
 
TMBC ref: 21/01677/FL 
PINs Ref: APP/H2265/W/22/3302608 
Site Address: 2 Yardley Park Road Tonbridge TN9 1NE 
Description of Development: Demolition of the existing buildings and the erection of 
13no. apartments with associated access, landscaping, parking and infrastructure 
Appeal Outcome: Appeal Dismissed 15.12.23 
Appeal Decision 
Costs awarded:  N/A 

Page 99

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3316969
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3302608


This page is intentionally left blank



The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 

 

 

ANY REPORTS APPEARING AFTER THIS PAGE CONTAIN EXEMPT 
INFORMATION 

 

 

Page 101

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Guidance for the Conduct of Meetings
	4 Minutes
	5 Glossary and Supplementary Matters
	6 TM/22/02694/FL - Formerly River Centre Car Park, Medway Wharf Road, Tonbridge
	Map

	7 Planning Appeals, Public Inquiries and Hearings
	9 Exclusion of Press and Public

